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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The New Union District Court had jurisdiction to hear this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 (2006). The district court granted Appellee Jim Bob Bowman’s motion for summary 

judgment on June 1, 2012. Appellants New Union Wildlife Federation (“NUWF”) and New 

Union Department of Environmental Protection (“NUDEP”) each filed timely appeals. The 

district court’s order was a final decision, therefore, this court has jurisdiction pursuant to Id. § 

1291. 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

I. Whether NUWF has organizational standing to sue Bowman when its members allege 

injuries to their aesthetic enjoyment of the Muddy River, their perceived loss of the 

environmental benefits of the wetlands, and reduction in frogging quality in the area. 

 

II. Whether there is a continuing violation of the Clean Water Act, as required for subject 

matter jurisdiction over a citizen suit, when Bowman has ceased land clearing and filling 

operations but has not removed dredged material from the cleared areas of his land. 

 

III. Whether, at the time NUWF filed its complaint, NUDEP was “diligently prosecuting” 

Bowman’s violation of the Clean Water Act when NUDEP entered into a consent decree 

with Bowman requiring him to restore a portion of land that he cleared and stop land 

clearing operations, but has not required him to pay civil penalties or remove dredged 

material from the entirety of his land.  

 

IV. Whether Bowman’s activities constituted an “addition” of a pollutant into the waters of 

the United States in violation of the Clean Water Act when he excavated material from 

his land, and subsequently redeposited the material onto his land, but did not add material 

from an outside source to his land. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from the district court’s June 1, 2012 Order granting Bowman’s motion 

for summary judgment against NUWF and NUDEP. R. at 11. NUWF is a non-profit corporation 

with the purpose of protecting the fish and wildlife of New Union by protecting their habitats. R. 

at 4. NUWF filed a citizen suit against Bowman pursuant to § 505 of the Clean Water Act 

(“CWA” or “the Act”). R. at 1; see also 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (2006) (the citizen suit provision of the 
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CWA). NUWF alleges that Bowman violated §§ 301 and 404 of the Act by filling wetlands 

without a proper permit. R. at 1; see also 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344.  

On July 1, 2011, NUWF sent notice of its intent to file suit against Bowman for 

violations of the CWA to the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), NUDEP, and 

Bowman. R. at 4. Shortly after receiving NUWF’s notice, NUDEP contacted Bowman to notify 

him of his violations of state and federal law. R. at 4. Bowman maintains that he made no such 

violations, but he consented to enter into an administrative enforcement order with NUDEP on 

August 1, 2011. R. at 4. In the order, Bowman agreed to convey a conservation easement to 

NUDEP that, in total, protected a 225 foot wide strip of land separating Bowman’s cleared land 

from the Muddy River. R. at 4-5. On August 10, NUDEP filed a § 505 complaint against 

Bowman. R. at 5; see also 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) (including state agencies such as NUDEP in the 

definition of “person”). On August 30, NUWF filed its § 505 suit against Bowman seeking civil 

penalties and injunctive relief requiring Bowman to restore the cleared land. R. at 5. On 

September 15, NUWF and NUDEP moved to intervene in each other’s suits and NUWF moved 

to consolidate the two actions. R. at 5. On September 5, NUDEP moved to enter a decree (the 

“Consent Decree” or the “Decree”) on identical terms to its prior agreement with Bowman. R. at 

5. Bowman consented to this motion. R. at 5. The motion is pending, and NUWF has filed an 

opposition to the Decree. R. at 5.  

On November 1, the district court allowed NUDEP’s motion to intervene in NUWF’s suit 

and informed the parties that it would not act on the other pending motions. R. at 5. After 

discovery, NUWF and Bowman filed cross-motions for summary judgment. R. at 5. Bowman 

gave four grounds for his motion: (1) NUWF lacks constitutional standing because its members 

have not suffered an injury fairly traceable to Bowman’s activities; (2) the court lacks subject 
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matter jurisdiction because any violations are wholly past; (3) the court lacks subject matter 

jurisdiction due to NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Bowman’s violations; (4) there was no 

violation of the CWA because Bowman’s activities were not an “addition” of a pollutant. R. at 5. 

NUWF moved for summary judgment solely on the ground that Bowman added dredge and fill 

material to the waters of the United States from a point source without a permit. R. at 5. On June 

1, 2012 the district court granted Bowman’s motion for summary judgment on all grounds. R. at 

11. NUWF and NUDEP have now appealed the district court’s June 1 Order. R. at 1. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Bowman owns 1,000 acres of wooded land in the State of New Union. R. at 3. Bowman’s 

land is entirely within the 100-year floodplain of the Muddy River and includes 650 feet of 

shoreline. R. at 3. The parcel is hydrologically connected to the Muddy River and bears 

vegetation and other attributes characteristic of wetlands. R. at 3. The parties agree that 

Bowman’s land meets the definition of a wetland. R. at 9. The Muddy River is used for 

recreation navigation and forms the border between the states of Progress and New Union and 

extends for at least 40 miles upstream and downstream from Bowman’s property. R. at 3. 

On June 15, 2011, Bowman began clearing his land. R. at 4. He used bulldozers to dig 

trenches, clear trees, and other vegetation, and then pushed the remains into windrows. R. at 4. 

He then burned the windrows and pushed the ashes into the trenches. R. at 4. Finally, Bowman 

dug a trench or swale from the back of his land to the Muddy River in order to drain the 

wetlands. R. at 4. This work was completed on July 15; however, he did not clear a 150 foot 

wide strip of land along the shoreline of the Muddy because the land could not be easily cleared 

before draining. R. at 4. Pursuant to the Consent Decree, Bowman conveyed a conservation 

easement to NUDEP in which he has agreed not to clear this 150 foot strip of land. R. at 4. He 
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further agreed to construct and maintain a year-round partially-inundated wetland on a 75 foot 

wide buffer that would further separate the cleared land from the Muddy River. R. at 4. In total, 

the conservation easement requires Bowman to maintain a 225 foot wide strip of wetlands 

running 650 feet along the shoreline of the Muddy River. R. at 4. The easement requires 

Bowman to allow public entry for appropriate daytime recreational activities, keep the area in its 

natural state, not to develop the area in any way other than constructing the year-round wetland. 

R. at 4.  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The district court erroneously found that NUWF lacks standing to bring suit against 

Bowman. NUWF has met the requirements for organizational standing. The district court held 

that the NUWF members failed to allege an injury in fact, but the court failed to account for the 

legal cognizability of the aesthetic injury to the NUWF members’ enjoyment of the Muddy 

River. These injuries give NUWF’s members standing to sue Bowman in their individual 

capacity. These injuries are fairly traceable to Bowman’s activities because the NUWF members 

allege that the Muddy River appeared more polluted following Bowman’s activities. The relief 

sought by NUWF is capable of redressing their injuries because it would restore the wetlands 

and deter future violations. 

The harms to the wetland caused by his land clearing operation are germane to NUWF’s 

organizational purpose of conservation. Furthermore, neither the suit nor the relief sought by 

NUWF requires the participation of its individual members. NUWF’s claim is based on a 

violation of the terms of the CWA and not some interaction between Bowman and NUWF’s 

members. NUWF requests civil penalties payable to the treasury and injunctive relief in the form 

of restoration of the wetlands rather than remedies for a specific plaintiff’s injuries. 
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The district court correctly held that Bowman’s activities are not a continuing violation of 

the CWA. Bowman has ceased clearing and filling his land, and has agreed to convey an 

easement to NUDEP binding him not to clear the remaining land. Therefore, there is no 

reasonable expectation that Bowman will resume his land clearing operations. Furthermore, the 

continued presence of dredged material on his cleared land is not itself a continuing violation of 

the CWA. Any damage to the environment caused by the continued presence of dredged material 

is an effect of Bowman’s violation of the CWA, but not itself a violation. 

The district court correctly held that NUWF’s citizen suit is barred by NUDEP’s diligent 

prosecution of Bowman’s CWA violation. NUDEP filed a complaint in federal court 20 days 

prior to NUWF, and so its enforcement action was ongoing by the time NUWF filed its citizen 

suit. NUDEP’s Consent Decree is capable of requiring Bowman’s compliance with the CWA 

because it expressly binds him to cease land clearing operations on the wetlands. Even assuming 

that the continued presence of dredged material is a continuing violation of the CWA, the 

Consent Decree is nevertheless capable of requiring Bowman’s compliance because it requires 

him to take expensive corrective measures that will remediate any lingering effects of the 

continued presence of dredged material. NUDEP prosecuted Bowman’s violation of the CWA in 

good faith because it acted quickly, independently, and without any other indicators of bad faith. 

NUDEP’s choice to enter into a consent decree with Bowman was within its discretion, and not 

an indicator of collusion. Additionally, NUDEP’s choice to forego civil penalties in favor of 

requiring Bowman to take corrective action was a valid exercise of NUDEP’s authority to 

enforce the CWA in the public interest. 

The district court correctly held that the material excavated from Bowman’s land 

constituted a pollutant, however, the court erred in finding that the material was not dredged 
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material. The district court failed to give adequate deference to the EPA’s definition of dredged 

material, which includes material excavated from the waters of the United States. The material in 

question was excavated from Bowman’s land because it was dug with heavy machinery. 

Bowman’s land is a part of the waters of the United States because it is a wetland adjacent to a 

navigable river. Therefore, the material excavated from Bowman’s land is a pollutant because it 

was dredged material. 

The district court erroneously held that Bowman did not violate the CWA because his 

activities did not constitute an “addition” of a pollutant to the waters of the United States. The 

court held that a pollutant must come from an outside source and be put into the waters of the 

United States in order to constitute an “addition.” However, the district court ignored the EPA’s 

definition of “addition” in the context of dredged material; this definition explicitly includes 

redeposit of dredged material. Bowman excavated soil and vegetation from his land and then 

redeposited the material in ditches and on low-lying areas of his property. Therefore, Bowman 

engaged in an “addition” of a pollutant to his land because he redeposited dredged material. 

Assuming, arguendo, that the material was fill material but not dredged material, Bowman still 

violated the CWA. The district court should have included redeposit in the definition of 

“addition” for the purposes of violations of § 404 of the Act because failing to do so would 

undermine the purpose of the Act. 

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Rulings on summary judgment motions are reviewed de novo. See, e.g. Cirulis v. UNUM 

Corp., 321 F.3d 1010, 1013 (10th Cir. 2003) (“We review the grant of summary judgment de 

novo[.]”). Summary judgment is appropriate only when “the movant shows that there is no 
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genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56. A dispute is “genuine” when “the evidence is such that a reasonable 

jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 

242, 248 (1986). A “material fact” is an element essential to a party’s case, on which that party 

bears the burden of proof at trial. Celotex Corp. v. Cattrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986).  

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NUWF LACKED STANDING 

TO BRING SUIT AGAINST BOWMAN FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE CWA. 

 

NUWF brings this action under § 505 of the CWA, which provides citizens with a right 

of action “against any person . . . who is alleged to be in violation of . . . an effluent standard or 

limitation[.]” 33 U.S.C. §1365(a) (2006). NUWF alleges violations of §§ 301 and 404 of the Act. 

Section 301(a) of the Act states that, absent a permit granted under various other sections of the 

Act, “the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.” Id. § 1311(a). Section 404 

establishes the permitting process for discharging “dredged or fill material” into the waters of the 

United States. Id. § 1344.  

An organization may bring suit on behalf of its members when “(a) its members would 

otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane 

to the organization's purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires 

the participation of individual members in the lawsuit.” Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. 

Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977). Furthermore, any interests that plaintiffs seek to protect 

must be “arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute . . . in 

question.” Ass’n of Data Processing Serv. Orgs., Inc. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150, 153 (1970). Here, 

NUWF seeks to protect interests germane to its purposes of protecting the environment, and the 

civil penalties and injunctive relief requested by NUWF do not require the participation of any 
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individual member. The central issue on appeal is whether NUWF’s members would have 

standing in their individual capacity. 

In addition to establishing a claim under the Act, citizen plaintiffs must also demonstrate 

constitutional standing under Article III of the Constitution. See U.S. Const. art. III, § 2. “[A]t an 

irreducible minimum, Art. III requires the party who invokes the court's authority to show that he 

personally has suffered some actual or threatened injury as a result of the putatively illegal 

conduct of the defendant, and that the injury fairly can be traced to the challenged action and is 

likely to be redressed by a favorable decision.” Valley Forge Christian Coll. v. Americans United 

for Separation of Church and State, 454 U.S. 464, 472 (1982) (citations omitted). Standing may 

be denied to “plaintiffs whose likelihood of suffering any concrete adverse effect from the 

challenged action was speculative.” Lujan v Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 584 (1992) 

(Stevens, J., concurring).  

The threshold for standing is not high, and “an ‘identifiable trifle’ will suffice.” United 

States v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures (SCRAP), 412 U.S. 669, 689 n.14 

(1973). “[E]nvironmental plaintiffs adequately allege injury in fact when they aver that they use 

the affected area and are persons ‘for whom the aesthetic and recreational values of the area will 

be lessened’ by the challenged activity.” Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., 528 

U.S. 167, 183 (2000) (quoting Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 735 (1972)). Another 

“identifiable trifle” is the reduction of use of a particular place due to the defendant’s actions. 

See Pub. Interest Research Grp. of N.J., Inc. v. Powell Duffryn Terminals, Inc., 913 F.2d 64 (3d 

Cir. 1990) (holding plaintiffs who alleged they would use polluted water body more frequently in 

absence of defendant’s polluting operations had standing). Nevertheless, some degree of 

specificity is required. Lujan v. Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871, 889 (1990) [hereinafter 
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National Wildlife Federation]. In National Wildlife Federation, the Court denied standing to an 

organization based on one member’s testimony that he generally enjoyed two million acres of 

land in Wyoming. 497 U.S. at 887. Similarly, in Defenders of Wildlife an organization 

unsuccessfully argued injuries based on destruction of wildlife on other continents that some 

members hoped to eventually revisit. 504 U.S. at 555. The Supreme Court found that “[s]uch 

‘some day’ intentions-without any description of concrete plans . . . do not support a finding of 

the ‘actual or imminent’ injury that our cases require.” Id. at 564. 

a. NUWF alleged aesthetic and recreational injuries sufficient to establish standing 

 

Three members of NUWF averred that “they use the Muddy for recreational fishing and 

boating, often picnicking on its banks, on or in the vicinity of Bowman’s property.” R. at 6. 

Furthermore, they “are aware of the differences” in the property following Bowman’s activities, 

and “feel a loss from the destruction of the wetlands.” R. at 6. NUWF member Dottie Milford 

stated that “the Muddy looks more polluted to her than it did prior to Bowman’s activities.” R. at 

6. Zeke Norton, another NUWF member, also testified that he used Bowman’s property for 

“frogging,” and since Bowman graded the wetland area, has found significantly fewer frogs on 

that parcel. R. at 6. The court erred in finding the alleged injuries to be merely speculative or 

insufficient respectively. 

These complaints are legally protected injuries under Morton, as “the interest alleged to 

have been injured may reflect aesthetic, conservational, and recreational as well as economic 

values.” Morton, 405 U.S. at 738 (citing Camp, 397 U.S. at 154). For example, in Friends of the 

Earth, the Supreme Court found that one member of a conservation organization had suffered 

injury in fact because he “occasionally drove over” a river polluted by the defendant wastewater 

treatment plant, and stated that “it looked and smelled polluted,” which kept him from fishing 
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and picnicking on or near the river three to five miles downstream from the facility. 528 U.S. at 

181-82. Another member averred that, despite living 20 miles away from the facility in question, 

she would have used the river if not for defendant’s pollution. Id. at 182. The Third Circuit 

reached a similar decision in Powell Duffryn, finding that an environmental organization had 

standing when one member stated that he would bird-watch more frequently along a nearby river 

if not for the defendant’s pollution. 913 F.2d at 71. Here, the plaintiffs are all recurring users of 

the Muddy, and their enjoyment of the river has declined due to Bowman’s conduct. Unlike the 

plaintiffs in National Wildlife Federation, who alleged harm to the entirety of a vast expanse, 

NUWF’s members have made clear that they use the Muddy “on or in the vicinity of Bowman’s 

property.” R. at 6. 

The district court below ignored the injuries suffered by the individuals here, holding 

instead that because of “the richer wetland habitat that will occur in the buffer zone, the 

environment may be benefited rather than injured by the changes.” R. at 6. “The relevant 

showing for purposes of Article III standing, however, is not injury to the environment but injury 

to the plaintiff. To insist upon the former rather than the later as part of the standing inquiry is to 

raise the standing hurdle higher than the necessary showing[.]” Friends of the Earth, 528 U.S. at 

181. Regardless of whether Bowman’s project has a net positive effect on the Muddy, it has had 

a net negative effect on NUWF’s members, which is the only requirement for showing injury in 

fact.  

Furthermore, the district court’s analysis of the possible effects of the consent decree 

confuses standing with mootness. “[S]tanding is to be determined as of the commencement of 

suit[.]” Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 570 n.5. The potential benefits of the consent decree, 

being diligently prosecuted by NUDEP, may render NUWF’s action moot, but do not affect the 
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standing analysis. When NUWF filed this action, the aesthetic and recreational injuries were 

cognizable, and any potential benefits of the buffer zone are irrelevant.  

The court below held that while Norton’s ability to “frog” the Muddy has declined in the 

wake of Bowman’s activity, “the inability to continue illegal activities cannot give rise to an 

injury to support standing.” R. at 6. The court correctly found that Norton’s unlawful use of 

Bowman’s property is not a legally protected interest. See Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. at 883 

(“plaintiff[s] must establish that the injury [they complain] of . . . falls within the ‘zone of 

interests’ sought to be protected by the statutory provision whose violation forms the legal basis 

for [their] complaint.”). The stated goal of the CWA “is to restore and maintain the chemical, 

physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters,” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2006), and not to 

create some right to trespass. However, Norton has frogged the area for years, and merely stated 

that Bowman’s property “had been especially good for frogging.” R. at 6. The district court 

failed to consider the possibility that Norton’s ability to frog the areas adjacent to Bowman’s 

property would have declined following Bowman’s actions. There remains a genuine issue of 

material fact as to whether Norton’s ability to frog on public lands was impaired. See Powell 

Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 71. 

b. The injuries suffered by NUWF’s members are fairly traceable to Bowman’s 

activity, and are likely to be redressed by the relief sought 

 

The district court did not address the remaining factors in the standing analysis: injury 

being fairly traceable to the defendant’s conduct and likelihood of redressability. Nevertheless, 

we briefly address those factors. To demonstrate that an alleged harm is fairly traceable to a 

defendant’s conduct, a plaintiff must show “that their situation might have been better had [the 

defendant] acted otherwise[.]” Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 507 (1975); see also Powell 

Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 72 (“[Plaintiffs need only show that there is a substantial likelihood that 
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defendant’s conduct caused plaintiffs’ harm.”) (citing Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Envtl. Study 

Grp., Inc., 438 U.S. 59, 75 n.20 (1978)). As with the injury test, the “fairly traceable” test is not a 

high threshold. In Powell Duffryn, the court found that an oily sheen and foul odor in a highly 

polluted body of water was fairly traceable to a defendant, who was known to frequently exceed 

the limits of its permit to discharge oil and grease. 913 F.2d at 73. Here, Bowman deposited 

dredged material into a wetland connected to the Muddy, and Milford testified that the Muddy 

looks more polluted than it did prior to Bowman’s activities. Additionally, destruction of prime 

frog habitats is likely to have caused a decline in the area’s frog population and Norton’s ability 

to frog. There is, at the very least, a substantial likelihood that Bowman’s activities caused these 

changes. 

NUWF’s injuries would be redressed by a favorable ruling here. NUWF seeks both civil 

penalties and an order compelling Bowman to remove the dredged material. The Supreme Court 

has established that civil penalties provide redress in CWA citizen suits because “they encourage 

defendants to discontinue current violations and deter them from continuing future ones[.]” 

Friends of the Earth, 528 U.S. at 186. Although the Consent Decree will more appropriately 

redress the alleged injuries, see infra p. 16-23, the order requested by NUWF would also redress 

the injuries in a manner sufficient to establish standing. 

III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT BOWMAN’S ACTIVITIES 

ARE NOT A CONTINUING VIOLATION OF THE CWA. 

 

“[S]ubject matter jurisdiction exists under § 505 if there is a good-faith allegation that the 

defendant is ‘in violation.’” Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 

U.S. 49, 67 (1987) [hereinafter Gwaltney] (Scalia, J., concurring). The Supreme Court has held 

that, based on the legislative history of § 505, “[t]he most natural reading of ‘to be in violation’ is 

a requirement that citizen-plaintiffs allege a state of either continuous or intermittent violation.” 
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Id. at 57. Therefore “§ 505 does not permit citizen suits for wholly past violations[.]” Id. at 64. 

Consequently, defendants in CWA actions are entitled to summary judgment when they show 

that “there is no reasonable expectation that the wrong will be repeated,” and that it is 

“absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior could not be reasonably expected to 

recur.” Id. at 66 (citations omitted). “The critical time for determining whether there is an 

ongoing violation is when the complaint was filed.” Conn. Coastal Fishermen’s Ass’n. v. 

Remington Arms Co., Inc., 989 F.2d 1305, 1311 (2d Cir. 1993). 

a. Bowman’s binding agreement with NUDEP makes it absolutely clear that his 

violation cannot reasonably be expected to recur. 

 

 The district court correctly held that the Consent Decree makes it absolutely clear that the 

allegedly wrongful behavior could not be reasonably expected to recur. Bowman ceased his land-

clearing activities on July 15, 2011, and by August 1, 2011 NUDEP had entered into a settlement 

agreement with Bowman in which he promised to construct a buffer zone and to leave the 

remaining wooded area intact. R. at 4. The district court noted that “there is no reason to believe 

he will resume [land-clearing activities],” because the only remaining lands he owns is now 

encumbered by a conservation easement. R. at 7. As such, Bowman could not further violate the 

Act in the manner that caused injury to NUWF’s members. 

b.  The ongoing presence of dredged material does not constitute a continuing 

violation of the Clean Water Act. 

 

Courts have been inconsistent in determining whether the ongoing presence of dredged 

material is a continuing violation for the purposes of § 505. However, the plain meaning of the 

statute and the purposes of the citizen suit show that the presence of dredged material is not a 

continuing violation. In United States v. Rutherford Oil, the court rejected an argument that the 

failure to remedy a past violation was in fact a continuing violation of the Act, and held the 
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continued effect of dredged material does not constitute a continuing violation. 756 F. Supp. 2d 

782, 791 (S.D. Tex. 2010). The court applied the plain meaning of the CWA’s prohibition 

against the “discharge of a pollutant,” concluding that “[o]nce the violator stops adding a 

pollutant in violation of a permit, the violation itself is over.” Id. “What remains are the effects of 

the violation, but absent a continuing obligation that is itself violated, the effects themselves are 

not violations.” Id. (citations omitted). Other courts have also held that the continuing effects of a 

discharge in violation of the Act are not continuing violations. See Nat’l Parks and Conservation 

Ass’n, Inc. v. Tenn. Valley Auth., 502 F.3d 1316, 1322 (11th Cir. 2007) (“[I]t is important to 

distinguish between the ‘present consequences of a one-time violation,’ which do not extend the 

limitations period, and ‘a continuation of a violation into the present,’ which does.”); Hamker v. 

Diamond Shamrock Chem. Co., 756 F.2d 392, 398 (5th Cir. 1985) (“[m]ere continuing residual 

effects resulting from a discharge are not equivalent to a continuing discharge.”). In United 

States v. Telluride, Co., 884 F. Supp. 404, 408 (D. Colo. 1995), the District of Colorado found 

that, for the purposes of the statute of limitations on federal enforcement actions, the continued 

presence of fill material was not a continuing violation.  

In Sasser v. Administrator, U.S. E.P.A., 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 1993), the Fourth 

Circuit held that “[e]ach day the pollutant remains in the wetlands without a permit constitutes an 

additional day of violation,” relying on United States v. Ciampitti, 669 F. Supp. 684, 700 (D.N.J. 

1987), and United States v. Cumberland Farms, 647 F. Supp. 1166, 1183-84 (D. Mass. 1986) to 

support that conclusion. Ciampitti was an action by the United States seeking to hold a developer 

in contempt of a permanent injunction to cease his filling activities, while Cumberland Farms, 

like Rutherford Oil, dealt with an enforcement action by the EPA, not a citizen suit under § 1365. 

Both Ciampitti and Cumberland Farms rely on United States v. Tull, 615 F. Supp. 610, 627 (E.D. 
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Va. 1983) aff’d, 769 F.2d 182 (4th Cir. 1985), overruled on other grounds 481 U.S. 412 (1987), 

in which the Eastern District of Virginia determined, without supporting authority, that “more 

than 365 days’ violation has taken place in allowing . . . illegal fill to remain.”  

NUWF’s argument based on Sasser fails, because the citizen suit is meant to serve a 

“supplementary role” in conjunction with federal and state enforcement. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 

60. The Supreme Court in Gwaltney, analyzing the legislative history of the CWA, reasoned that 

“citizen suits are proper only ‘if the Federal, State and local agencies fail to exercise their 

enforcement responsibility.’” Id. (quoting S. Rep. No. 92-414, at 64 (1971), reprinted in 1972 

U.S.C.C.A.N. 3668). While the public has a valid interest in protecting the integrity of the 

nation’s waters and wetlands, that task has largely been foisted on the government and its 

agencies, which are far better equipped for the challenge. See id. at 61. The Gwaltney Court 

recognized this in limiting the applicability of the citizen suit: “If citizens could file suit, months 

or years later, in order to seek the civil penalties that the Administrator chose to forego, then the 

Administrator’s discretion to enforce the Act in the public interest would be curtailed 

considerably.” Id. 

NUDEP has already taken steps to remedy the harm done by Bowman’s activity, 

acquiring a conservation easement on the uncleared property and ordering Bowman to 

reconstruct the wetland in a “buffer zone” between the easement and his new field. R. at 4. While 

it is clear that NUWF’s members have suffered a legally-significant injury, a “successful” citizen 

suit compelling Bowman to restore his land to its natural state would not only undo NUDEP’s 

efforts, but may prolong the injury. As the district court noted, “considering the richer wetland 

habitat that will occur in the buffer zone, the environment may be benefitted rather than injured 

by the change.” Id. at 6.  
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NUWF also argues that Gwaltney’s holding should be restricted in its application to 

violations of § 402, and not § 404, which governs permits for the discharge of dredge and fill 

material. R. at 7. However, the fact that these two sections refer to different pollutants has no 

bearing on the definition of “continuing violation” for the purposes of citizen suits under § 505. 

The district court correctly held that §§ 402 and 404 both could address reversible harms, and the 

lingering effects of pollutants do not create a continuing violation. See Rutherford Oil, 756 F. 

Supp. 2d at 791; Tenn. Valley Auth., 502 F.3d at 1322, Hamker, 756 F.2d at 397. While the 

meaning of “addition of a pollutant” may be different for industrial wastes than for dredge and 

fill material, there is no need for the definition of “continuing violation” to follow suit in the 

manner NUWF suggests.  

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT NUDEP WAS DILIGENTLY 

PROSECUTING AN ENFORCEMENT ACTION TO BRING BOWMAN INTO 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CWA WHEN NUWF FILED ITS COMPLAINT. 

 

The CWA strips federal district courts of subject matter jurisdiction to hear citizen suits 

“if the Administrator or State has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal 

action . . . to require compliance [with the Act].” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) (2006). Diligent 

prosecution is determined at the time the citizen-plaintiff’s complaint is filed. Piney Run Pres. 

Ass’n v. Cnty. Com’rs of Carroll Cnty., 523 F.3d 453, 456 (4th Cir. 2008). NUDEP filed its 

complaint 20 days prior to NUWF pursuant to a state law virtually identical in relevant parts to 

the CWA. R. at 4-5. Therefore the critical issue for this court on appeal is if NUDEP’s 

enforcement action against Bowman is diligent.  

A State’s enforcement is diligent if it “‘is capable of requiring compliance with the 

[CWA] and is good faith calculated to do so.’” Piney Run Pres. Ass’n, 523 F.3d at 459 (quoting 

Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro Sewerage Dist. (Friends of Milwaukee’s 
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Rivers I), 382 F.3d 743, 760 (7th Cir. 2004)). The court must presume diligence on the part of 

the state. Id. A private plaintiff bears a heavy burden and must do more than merely demonstrate 

that the State’s enforcement actions are less zealous than the private plaintiff would have liked. 

Karr v. Hefneer, 475 F.3d 1192, 1197 (10th Cir. 2007) (citing Ellis v. Gallatin Steel Co., 390 

F.3d 461, 477 (6th Cir. 2004)); see also Supporters to Oppose Pollution, Inc. v. Heritage Grp., 

973 F.2d 1320, 1324 (7th Cir. 1992). This high level of deference is necessary to protect the 

structure of the Clean Water Act because citizen suits are meant to “supplement rather than 

supplant governmental action.” Gwaltney, at 60 (1987). “[D]iligence does not require a state 

agency to have perfect foresight, and the State is not required to succeed; it is required only to 

try, diligently.” Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist. (Friends of 

Milwaukee’s Rivers II), 556 F.3d 603, 610-11 (7th Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).  

a. The Consent Decree is capable of requiring Bowman’s compliance with the CWA 

 

The first prong of the diligent prosecution bar is that governmental enforcement action 

must be “capable of requiring compliance with the [CWA]. . . .” Piney Run Pres. Ass’n, 523 F.3d 

at 459. The court must focus on the capacity, not the likelihood, of the enforcement action to 

bring Bowman into compliance with the CWA. Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers II, 556 F.3d at 

610. “Where an agency has specifically addressed the concerns of an analogous citizen’s suit, 

deference to the agency’s plan of attack should be particularly favored.” N. and S. Rivers 

Watershed Ass’n, Inc. v. Town of Scituate, 949 F.2d 552, 557 (1st Cir. 1991). Such deference 

“does not preclude the plaintiff participating in suits to enforce NPDES permits but merely 

prevents them from forcing defendants simultaneously to litigate” multiple actions. Conn. Fund 

for the Env’t v. Contract Plating Co., Inc., 631 F. Supp. 1291, 1294 (D. Conn. 1986). 
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i. The Consent Decree requires Bowman’s compliance with the CWA 

because it stops his land clearing operations 

 

The Consent Decree is capable of requiring Bowman’s compliance because it binds him 

to cease all land clearing operations. R. at 4. This prevents any future violations of the CWA 

because the continued presence of fill material is not a continuing violation of the CWA. Supra 

p. 12-16. Therefore, the explicit terms of the agreement are capable of requiring Bowman’s 

compliance with the CWA.  

ii. In the alternative, the Consent Decree is capable of requiring Bowman’s 

compliance with the CWA because it effectively remediates the harm 

caused by his violations 

 

Assuming, arguendo, that the continued presence of dredged material on Bowman’s land 

is a continuing violation of the CWA, the Consent Decree is capable of requiring Bowman’s 

compliance with the Act. Diligence requires only that NUDEP act to remediate, not reverse, 

Bowman’s addition of dredged material to his land because “the question is essentially asking if 

the state faithfully discharged its responsibilities to its constituents and achieved what it 

reasonably believed to be a solution to the problem.” Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers II, 556 F.3d 

at 610. After a defendant has filled federally protected wetlands, public enforcement agencies 

have discretion to determine the extent to which remediation is necessary. Orange Env’t, Inc. v. 

County of Orange, 923 F. Supp. at 538-39. A defendant’s compliance with such a remediation 

order brings that defendant into compliance with the CWA. Id. 

The remedial actions in the Consent Decree adequately address the concerns of NUWF’s 

citizen suit. Therefore, “deference to the agency’s plan of attack should be particularly favored.” 

N. and S. Rivers Watershed Ass’n, 949 F.2d at 557. NUWF asserted injury based on the loss of 

the aesthetic and environmental value of the Muddy River and the inability to frog in the area R. 

at 6. The Consent Decree preserves the environmental and aesthetic value of the Muddy by 
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protecting and granting public access to a 225 foot wide strip of land along 650 feet of the river’s 

shoreline including a 75 foot wide strip of restored, partially-inundated wetland. R. at 4. 

According to a NUDEP biologist, this will “provide richer wetland habitat than the former . . . 

wetland presently occupied by the field,” including for frogs. R. at 6. The easement will also be 

capable of providing the same environmental services as the previous wetlands because of the 

225 foot buffer. R. at 6 (“the environment may be benefitted rather than injured by the 

changes.”). Such a wetland along the shore of the Muddy River will also preserve the viewscape 

of the river for public recreation. R. at 8. Furthermore, the easement will allow appropriate 

public day-use of the wetland for purposes such as frogging. R. at 8. Therefore, the pending 

Consent Decree resolves the concerns of NUWF’s suit, and so the court should defer to the 

agency’s plan of attack. 

Whether NUWF would prefer broader remediation of the wetland is immaterial to the 

fact the NUDEP was diligent in its enforcement actions against Bowman: 

The fact that the remediation order here does not meet the desires of the private 

parties is not crucial. As this Court previously held in an earlier action involving 

one of these plaintiffs, the “thrust of the CWA is to provide society with a remedy 

against polluters in the interest of protecting the environment. If the government's 

action achieves that end, the fact that . . . any other private attorney general is 

barred from duplicating that effort should hardly seem surprising or harsh.” 

 

Orange Env’t, Inc., 923 F. Supp. at 539 (ellipsis and emphasis in original). The court must grant 

broad discretion to NUDEP to determine appropriate remediation for a violation of the CWA 

because “second-guessing of the [Agency’s] assessment of an appropriate remedy . . . fails to 

respect the statute’s careful distribution of enforcement authority among . . . the States and 

private citizens.” Ellis, 390 F.3d at 477 (citing Orange Env’t, Inc., 923 F. Supp. at 540). Such 

deference is necessary to remain consistent with the Supreme Court’s reasoning in Gwaltney that 

“[t]he bar on citizen suits when governmental enforcement action is underway suggests that the 
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citizen suit is meant to supplement rather than to supplant governmental action.” 484 U.S. at 60. 

As discussed supra pp. 18-19, the Consent Decree preserves the environmental and aesthetic 

benefits of the wetlands and the Muddy River; therefore the decree is entitled to the court’s 

deference. See Orange Env’t Inc., 923 F. Supp. at 539. 

b. NUDEP’s enforcement against Bowman was in good faith 

 

The second prong of the “diligent prosecution” bar requires that a state’s enforcement 

action be “in good faith calculated” to require compliance with the CWA. Piney Run Pres. Ass’n, 

523 F.3d at 459. Few appellate courts have analyzed this prong in depth. However, district courts 

have held that satisfaction of this requirement is presumed “‘absent persuasive evidence that the 

state has engaged in a pattern of conduct that could be considered dilatory, collusive, or 

otherwise in bad faith.’” Clean Air Council v. Sunoco, Inc., 02-1553 GMS, 2003 WL 1785879, 

at *3 (D. Del. Apr. 2, 2003) (interpreting a comparable section of the Clean Air Act (“CAA”)) 

(quoting Conn. Fund for the Env’t, 631 F. Supp. at 1293); see also Supporters to Oppose 

Pollution, Inc., 973 F.2d at 1324 (holding that the CWA diligent prosecution bar is part of a 

“family” of similar environmental statutes); compare 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(1)(B) (2006) (CAA 

“diligent prosecution” bar), with 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) (CWA “diligent prosecution” bar). 

Based on this standard, NUDEP acted in good faith to require Bowman’s compliance with the 

CWA. 

i. NUDEP acted in good faith because its enforcement action was not overly 

dilatory 

 

NUDEP’s enforcement approach was not dilatory because it did not “languish[] for a 

long period of time without action.” Sierra Club v. ICG E., LLC, 833 F. Supp. 2d 571, 579 

(N.D.W. Va. 2011). NUDEP began its actions against Bowman by sending him a notice of 

violation roughly one month after he commenced his land clearing operations. R. at 4. 
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Additionally, NUDEP allowed roughly three months to lapse between sending its notice of 

violation and moving to enter a consent decree. R. at 4-5. The court in Sierra Club found that the 

State had acted promptly when “only six months passed between the time the complaint was 

filed and lodging of the Draft Consent Decree.” 833 F. Supp. 2d at 579. The court in Ohio Valley 

Environmental Coalition, Inc. v. Hobet Mining, LLC found that the state was non-diligent 

because it had failed to act for more than a year. 723 F. Supp. 2d 886, 907 (S.D.W. Va. 2010). 

Based on these cases, NUDEP acted in good faith by promptly moving from an initial notice of 

violation to moving to enter a final consent decree in less than three months. R. at 4-5. 

ii. NUDEP acted in good faith because its enforcement action against 

Bowman was not collusive 

 

NUDEP additionally acted in good faith by not colluding with Bowman. See Clean Air 

Council, 2003 WL 1785879 at *3. The facts show that NUDEP acted on its own accord to 

inform Bowman of his violation and to file a complaint. R. at 4-5. This is further evidenced by 

the fact that Bowman continues to maintain that he did not violate the CWA. R. at 4. 

Furthermore, NUDEP’s cooperation with Bowman is consistent with good faith enforcement of 

the CWA: “‘there is no incompatibility whatever between a defendant’s facilitation of suit and 

the State’s diligent prosecution-as prosecutions of felons who confess their crimes and turn 

themselves in regularly demonstrate.’” Piney Run Pres. Ass’n, 523 F.3d at 460-61 (quoting 

Friends of the Earth, 528 U.S. at 211 n.4 (Scalia, J., dissenting)). Just as a criminal prosecutor 

may recommend a relatively lenient sentence in order to secure a criminal defendant’s testimony 

against another party, NUDEP chose to forego civil penalties in order to facilitate Bowman’s 

cooperation in preserving the wetlands and allowing public access. See Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 

60-61. The court should not interpret the diligent prosecution bar in such a way that inhibits the 

ability to governmental enforcement agencies to enter into consent decrees: “‘[a]n Administrator 
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unable to make concessions is unable to obtain them.’” Karr, 475 F.3d at 1197 (quoting 

Supporters to Oppose Pollution, 973 F.2d at 1324). Therefore, NUDEP’s enforcement actions 

were conducted in good faith without collusion with Bowman. 

iii. NUDEP’s acted in good faith because its enforcement action against 

Bowman was not otherwise in bad faith 

 

 Courts have also found that a State’s failure to eliminate the economic benefit of non-

compliance with the CWA is also an indicator of bad faith. See, e.g. Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. 

Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., Inc., 890 F. Supp. 470, 491-92 (D.S.C. 1995). The Supreme Court has 

stated that a State has broad discretion to forego civil penalties in favor of remedial action. 

Gwaltney., 484 U.S. 49, 60-61; see also Supporters to Oppose Pollution, 973 F.2d at 1324 

(holding that “the Clean Water Act . . . bars private litigation even though the public plaintiff 

settled for declaratory and injunctive relief, while the private one demands damages.”). The 

reason for this discretion is compelling: 

Suppose further that the Administrator agreed not to assess or otherwise seek civil 

penalties on the condition that the violator take some extreme corrective action, 

such as to install particularly effective but expensive machinery, that it otherwise 

would not be obliged to take. If citizens could file suit, months or years later, in 

order to seek the civil penalties that the Administrator chose to forgo, then the 

Administrator's discretion to enforce the Act in the public interest would be 

curtailed considerably. 

 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60-61. The Consent Decree included such extreme corrective action by 

requiring construction of the wetland at “considerable initial expense and an indeterminable 

future expense.” R. at 8. Furthermore, the decree eliminates Bowman’s ability to develop a 

significant portion of his land and requires that he keep the land open to the public. R. at 4. Even 

assuming arguendo that imposing civil penalties would be a more effective method of 

prosecuting Bowman’s violation, “a citizen-plaintiff cannot overcome the presumption of 

diligence merely by showing that an agency’s prosecution strategy is less aggressive than he 
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would like or that it did not produce a completely satisfactory result.” Piney Run Pres. Ass’n, 

523 F.3d at 459 (citing Karr, 475 F.3d at 1197). The substantial burden placed on Bowman to 

comply with the terms of the Consent Decree shows that NUDEP acted in good faith to require 

his compliance with the CWA. Therefore, the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to 

hear NUWF’s complaint because NUDEP “has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil 

or criminal action in a court of the United States” to require Bowman’s compliance with the 

CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). 

V. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT BOWMAN’S ACTIONS WERE 

NOT AN “ADDITION” OF A POLLUTANT INTO THE WATERS OF THE UNITED 

STATES IN VIOLATION OF THE CWA. 

 

Section 301 of the CWA makes it unlawful to discharge pollutants except in compliance 

with a provision of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). Discharge of a pollutant is defined as “any 

addition of any pollutant to the navigable waters from a point source.” Id. § 1362(12). Section 

404 authorizes the Army Corps of Engineers to issue permits for the discharge of dredge or fill 

material. Id. § 1344. Therefore, a violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 requires 1) an addition, 2) of a 

pollutant, 3) from a point source, 4) into a navigable water. The district court found, and all 

parties agree, that Bowman’s alleged discharge came from a point source and entered into a 

navigable water. R. at 8-9. The district court also found that the material deposited by Bowman 

was fill material which is composed of materials listed as pollutants, and therefore discharge of 

that material is a discharge of a pollutant. R. at 8. The district court, however, erred when it 

found that the material deposited by Bowman was not dredged material. Finally, the district court 

found that there was not an “addition” because the material was redeposited in the same wetland 

it came from. R. at 9. This was also an error because the regulations implementing § 404 define 

discharge of dredged material to include redeposit, and the regulations deserve deference which 
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the district court did not grant. Assuming, arguendo, that the district court was correct and the 

material deposited was fill material, “addition” should be read to include redeposit even though 

the regulations are silent on the issue. 

a. The district court erred in finding that the material deposited was fill material 

rather than dredged material 

 

The district court incorrectly found that the material deposited by Bowman was fill 

material because the district court ignored the definition of dredged materials in 33 C.F.R. § 

323.2 and created its own definition. The CWA provides no definition of dredged materials, see 

33 U.S.C. § 1362, however, the EPA and Army Corps of Engineers (the “Agencies”) define 

dredged materials as “material that is excavated or dredged from waters of the United States.
1
” 

33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c). Under this definition, Bowman’s activities would constitute the discharge 

of dredged material. 

The district court should have given deference to the Agencies definition of dredged 

materials under the holding in Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 

467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984). When a court reviews an agency’s interpretation of a statute it 

must first determine if Congress has spoken to the precise question at issue. Id. If Congress has 

addressed the issue, then the court determines if the agency’s interpretation is faithful to the 

expressed intent of Congress. Id. If, however, Congress did not address the precise question, the 

court must determine if the agency’s interpretation is a permissible interpretation of the statute. 

Id. at 843. The agency’s interpretation does not have to be the only permissible interpretation, or 

even the interpretation the court would have selected. Id. at 843 n.11. Considerable deference 

                                                 

1 “Waters of the United States” are defined to include wetlands adjacent to waters 

of the United States (other than waters that are themselves wetlands). 33 C.F.R. § 328.3(a)(7). 

The district court is correct that Bowman’s property is a water of the United States. See R. at 9. 
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should be given to the interpretation of an agency when Congress has implicitly delegated 

authority interpret the statute to the Agency. Id. at 844. If the choice of the Agency is a 

reasonable accommodation of the policies committed to the Agency’s care, then its interpretation 

is permissible unless it appears from the statute or its legislative history that the interpretation is 

one Congress would not have sanctioned. Chevron, 467 U.S. at 845.  

The CWA does not define dredged materials. See 33 U.S.C. § 1362. Therefore, the 

Agencies’ definition must be granted deference unless it is an impermissible interpretation. See 

Chevron, 967 U.S. at 895. Neither “dredged” nor “excavated” is defined in by the CWA or the 

regulations. See 33 U.S.C. § 1362, 33 C.F.R. 323.2. “When terms used in a statute are undefined 

we give them their ordinary meaning.” Asgrow Seed Co. v. Winterboer, 513 U.S. 179, 187 

(1995). Dredging is defined as catching, gathering, or pulling out with a dredge. Webster’s Third 

New International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged 688 (Philip Babcock Grove et 

al. eds., 2002). A “dredge” is defined as “a machine for scooping up or removing earth (as in 

excavating or deepening stream or harbor channels, building levees, or digging ditches) usually 

by a series of buckets on an endless chain, a pump or suction tube, or a single bucket or grab at 

the end of an arm.” Id. Excavate, however, has a broader definition of “to dig out and remove”. 

Id. at 791. It was a permissible interpretation for the Agencies to include excavated materials as 

dredged materials because the definition of waters of the United States is expanded beyond the 

types of waters that are traditionally dredged. See Clean Water Act Regulatory Programs, 58 

Fed. Reg. 45008, 45010 (Aug. 25, 1993). It would not further the goals of protecting the 

chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters to allow digging in some 

waters of the United States, but to prohibit the same activities in other waters based solely on the 
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type of body of water or the type of machine used, therefore, the Agencies definition is 

permissible. 

 Bowman dug trenches for the burial of vegetation, moved soil from higher elevation 

areas to lower elevation areas, and dug a swale to drain the land. R. at 4. All of these activities 

require digging up soil and removing it from its original location, and therefore, result in 

excavated material which is also dredged material. Bowman’s removal of trees and other 

vegetation would have resulted in the vegetation being dug up from soil, and therefore the 

vegetation was also dredged materials. Therefore, the district court erred in finding that the 

material dug from Bowman’s land was fill material rather than dredged material. 

b. The district court erred in finding that “addition” did not include redeposit 

because it failed to provide deference to the Agencies interpretation and the 

Agencies interpretation was permissible 

 

i. Bowman’s activities constituted an “addition” of a pollutant because he 

redeposited dredged material on his land 

 

In order to violate the CWA, the defendant must make an “addition” of a pollutant. See 

33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1362(12). The district court correctly notes that the CWA does not define 

“addition.” R. at 9. However, the regulations define “discharge of dredged material” as “any 

addition of dredged material into, including redeposit of dredged material other than incidental 

fallback within, the waters of the United States.” 33 C.F.R. § 323.2 (d)(1). The district court 

failed to defer to this definition because it erroneously found that Bowman deposited fill material 

instead of dredged material. R. at 8-9.  

The court in Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, the case cited by the district court for the 

“outside source” requirement, decided that § 402 defined “addition” as requiring that the 

pollutant come from an outside source based on deference to the EPA’s interpretation of the 

statute. See 693 F.2d 156, 174-76 (D.C. Cir. 1982). The court found that the CWA could be read 



27 

 

such that an “addition” of a pollutant did not require that the pollutant come from the outside 

world, however, it also found that the EPA’s interpretation, requiring the pollutant come from an 

outside source, was another permissible reading of the Act. Id. At 174-75. The court selected the 

EPA’s interpretation because of the deference required by Chevron. Id. The court also stated that 

it was likely that Congress would have given EPA discretion to define “addition” if it had known 

that the meaning of the term would be disputed. Id. at 175. In contrast to the definition argued for 

by the EPA in Gorsuch, the EPA has interpreted the word “addition” as used in § 404 to include 

redeposit. See 33 C.F.R. § 232.2(d)(1). The EPA’s interpretation of § 404 should be given 

deference, just as its interpretation was given deference in Gorsuch. 

The district court found that an “addition” of a pollutant requires the pollutant to come 

from the “outside world” based on the EPA's interpretation of “addition” in § 402. R. at 9.
2
 

However, the Agencies determined that for the purposes of dredged material “addition” must 

include redeposit. Clean Water Act Regulatory Programs, 58 Fed. Reg. at 45011. The Agencies 

decided that the material did not have to come from the outside world because “dredged material, 

by definition, is contained in the waters themselves.” Id. The Agencies noted that the Fifth 

Circuit found, in Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897 (1983), that 

requiring dredged materials to come from the outside world would effectively remove the dredge 

and fill provision of the statute because dredged material comes from the waters of the United 

                                                 

2  The district court also held that the EPA’s “unitary navigable waters” theory, 

which states that all bodies of water are one for the purposes of the CWA, prevented redeposited 

material from being an addition of a pollutant. R. at 9-10. The material Bowman redeposited, 

however, did not come from another part of the waters of the United States, and therefore the 

unitary navigable waters theory is inapplicable. Even if it were applicable, its use in § 404 would 

lead to an absurd result because it would prevent the discharge of dredged materials from being 

regulated, because dredged material must by definition come from within a water of the United 

States, and therefore could never be added. It could not have been Congress’ intention to create a 

permitting program which would not then be used. Therefore, even if it is applicable to 

Bowman’s actions, the district court erred in finding that it was applicable. 
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States. Clean Water Act Regulatory Programs, 58 Fed. Reg. at 45011. The Agencies also 

rejected a definition of “addition” that would have required that the dredged materials be moved 

from one place to another, or from one body of water to another, before an addition would occur. 

Id. The Agencies believed this definition was too vague, and would result in arbitrary 

delineations that would not have any relation to the environmental effects caused by the 

discharge. Id. The Agencies noted in rejecting a relocation requirement that deposited material 

can have the same effect regardless of how far it is moved. Id. 

The district court, however, rejected the reasons noted by the Agencies because it found 

that the EPA had defined “addition” with respect to § 402, and the same term used in different 

parts of the statute has the same meaning unless Congress provides otherwise. R. at 9 (citing 

Sorenson v. Sec’y of the Treasury, 475 U.S. 851 (1986), for the proposition that a term used in 

different parts of the same statute has the same meaning). However, the presumption that a word 

has the same meaning throughout a statute can be rebutted if the circumstances in which the 

word is used are dissimilar enough to warrant the conclusion that the word was used with a 

different intent. District of Columbia v. Carter, 409 U.S. 418, 421 (1973). Sections 402 and 404 

were created to manage very different pollution problems. Section 402 was created to manage 

the discharge of pollutants into a waterway from facilities such as industrial plants, sewage 

treatment facilities, and storm sewers. See Gorsuch, 693 F.2d at 175. These sources are all 

located outside the waters of the United States, and therefore, restricting “addition” to outside 

pollutants limits § 402 to its intended purpose. See id. at 175-76 (discussing how Congress could 

have expanded § 402 to cover all point sources, but chose not to). Section 404, in contrast, is 

meant to protect against alterations of the bottom topography and the reduction of the extent of 

the waters of the United States. See 33 C.F.R. §§ 323.2(d)(3)(i), 323.2(d)(4), 323.2(e)(1) 
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(exempting from § 404 regulation incidental additions that do not alter waters such that they are 

no longer waters of the United States, and defining “fill material” as material that replaces any 

portion of a water with dry land or alters the bottom elevation of any portion of a water of the 

United States). The different types and sources of pollutants targeted by the sections show that 

the meaning of “addition” in § 402 is not what Congress intended “addition” to mean in § 404. 

 The district court also rejected the idea that requiring material to come from an outside 

source would read § 404 out of existence. R. at 9. Instead, the district court held the outside 

source requirement would only narrow the program, because it would still require permits when 

the material comes from somewhere other than that particular wetland. R. at 9. The district court, 

however, did not argue that the interpretation of the Agencies was an impermissible reading of 

the statute, and therefore, while the district court might prefer select its own interpretation 

instead of that provided by the Agencies it is required to give deference to the Agencies 

interpretation, and its failure to do so is error.  

The Agencies’ inclusion of redeposit in the definition of “addition” is a permissible 

interpretation of the CWA because it is a reasonable accommodation of the policies underlying 

the Act. Chevron, 467 U.S. at 845. The CWA was designed to protect the chemical, physical, 

and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a). Redepositing material close 

to where it was removed can have the same effects as discharging material that comes from dry 

land or from another body of water. See Clean Water Act Regulatory Program, 58 Fed. Reg. at 

45011. In United States v. M.C.C. of Florida, Inc., the Eleventh Circuit found that “addition” 

“may reasonably be understood to include ‘redeposit,’” because the redepositing of dredged 

material onto the adjacent seafloor disturbs the physical and biological integrity of the seafloor. 

772 F.2d 1501, 1506 (11th Cir. 1985). Similarly, Bowman’s activities had a negative effect on 
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the integrity of the ecosystem. His activities resulted in the filling and destruction of the wetland 

ecosystem, therefore the reasoning given in M.C.C. of Florida is applicable, and the redeposit of 

dredged materials in a wetland is an “addition” of a pollutant. 

ii. Redeposit of dredged material is an “addition” of a pollutant because the 

material redeposited only becomes a pollutant once it is excavated  

 

Assuming, arguendo, that redeposit is not enough and something new must be added for 

there to be addition dredging or excavating soil transforms it from a non-pollutant into the 

pollutant dredged spoils which did not exist in the wetland and is new. The district court rejected 

the argument that removal and redeposit is an addition because it transforms material from a 

non-pollutant into a pollutant. R. at 10. The district court found this to be “verbal metaphysics” 

meant to hide the fact that nothing is added. In United States v. Deaton, the Fourth Circuit found 

that soil, once excavated from the ground, was transformed into dredged spoil, which is a 

pollutant. 209 F.3d 331, 335 (4th Cir. 2000). Because a non-pollutant was removed and a 

pollutant was redeposited there was an addition of a pollutant even though there was not any 

additional material. Id. at 335-36. The court reasoned that excavation and redeposit may release 

pollutants that had previously been trapped in the soil, but which were disturbed in excavation 

process. Id. at 336. The court further reasoned that redepositing dredged materials may reduce a 

wetland’s ability to provide environmental services and may harm aquatic life by increasing the 

amount of suspended sediment. Id. These effects are no less harmful when the dredged material 

is redeposited then when outside material is deposited in the wetland. Id. This substantial harm to 

the environment is more than mere “verbal metaphysics.” R. at 10. Therefore, this Court should 

follow the Fourth Circuit's reasoning and reverse the district court's finding that redeposit is not 

an “addition.” 
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c. In the alternative, if Bowman’s actions resulted in only the deposit of fill material 

the district court was in error to find that the addition of fill material does not 

include redeposit 

 

Assuming, arguendo, that the district court did not err in finding that the material 

deposited by Bowman was not dredged material, it erred in determining that redeposit of fill 

material did not constitute an “addition.”
3
 Unlike “discharge of dredged materials,” the definition 

of “discharge of fill material” does not include an explicit reference to redeposit. Instead, the 

regulations define “discharge of fill material” as “the addition of fill material into waters of the 

United States.” 33 C.F.R.§ 323.2(f). Inclusion of redeposit in the definition of “discharge of fill 

material” is permissible notwithstanding the Agencies’ failure to change its definition when they 

altered the definition of “discharge of dredged material.” The Agencies included redeposit in the 

definition of “discharge of dredged material” in response to a settlement agreement, not due to 

some difference between dredged material and fill material. See Clean Water Act Regulatory 

Programs, 58 Fed. Reg. at 45,008 (stating that the Agencies proposed the regulations as part of a 

settlement agreement). Therefore, the Agencies did not show intent to exclude redeposit from a 

“discharge of fill material.” The court should use the same definition of “discharge” for both 

dredged material and fill material because both materials are governed by § 404 of the CWA. 

See Sorenson, 475 U.S. At 860 (holding that the same term used in different places in the same 

statute has the same meaning in each instance unless congress provided otherwise). 

                                                 

3  The district court was correct in finding that the material redeposited by 

Bowman’s activities was fill material containing pollutants. Fill material is material placed in the 

waters of the United States that has the effect of replacing a portion of a water of the United 

States with dry land or changes the bottom elevation of the water. 33 C.F.R.§ 323.2(e)(1). The 

material deposited by Bowman had the effect of altering the bottom elevation of the wetland, and 

likely replaced the wetland with dry land, and therefore, was properly classified as fill material 

by the district court if was not dredged material. 
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 The CWA’s legislative history and purposes demand including redeposit in a “discharge 

of fill material” in order to adequately protect the wetlands. Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc. 

v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 923 (5th Cir. 1983). In Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, the defendants 

cleared forested wetlands by using bulldozers to cut down the vegetation, raked the cut 

vegetation into windrows, and burned the windrows. Id. at 901. The defendants then “disced” the 

ashes and the remaining unburned vegetation into the ground. Id. Based on the CWA’s goal of 

protecting wetlands, the court found that these activities constituted an addition of fill material 

even though redeposit was not explicitly included in the definition. Id. at 923. The court noted 

that the activities of the defendants, such as digging ditches and holes, would likely constitute 

dredging, but did not decide if there was a discharge of dredged material because it concluded 

there was a discharge of fill material. Id. at 925. 

Fill material impacts the environment in a manner similar to dredged material, and so the 

definition of “addition” found in “discharge of dredged material” should be applied to “discharge 

of fill material.” Redepositing soil can also release pollutants that had been previously been 

immobilized because they were in the subsoil. U.S. v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 336 (4th Cir. 2000) 

(citing Office of Technology Assessment, U.S. Congress, Wetlands: Their Use and Regulation 

48-50 (1984)). Over time, the types and quantities of pollutants in the body of water and its 

sediment can change, and therefore the pollutants that get released when the soil is redeposited 

may be different than the pollutants that were present in the water before the redepositing of the 

soil. Redeposit would therefore result in the same effect as depositing into the body of water soil 

from other locations that have different pollutants than the body of water. Additionally, even if 

the pollutants present have not changed over time, the redepositing of dredged materials will 

increase the concentrations of those pollutants in the same manner that depositing dredged 
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material from another location would increase pollutant concentrations. The similarity of the 

effects between redeposited fill material and fill material deposited from the outside world is 

identical to the situation which led the Agencies and the courts to recognize that redeposit of 

dredged materials is an “addition.” The discharge of fill provisions in § 404 serve the same 

purpose, preventing unauthorized filling of waters of the United States, as the discharge of 

dredged materials provisions, and therefore, the meaning of “addition” developed in § 402 is also 

not applicable to the discharge of fill material.  

Finally, the statutory language of the CWA does not establish separate permit 

requirements for dredged material and fill material. Instead, it consistently uses the term 

“discharge of dredged or fill materials.” 33 U.S.C. § 1344. Because Congress put both dredged 

and fill materials in the same section and created the same requirements for both types of 

materials, the meaning of “addition” should be the same for both “discharge of dredged 

materials” and “discharge of fill materials” unless Congress clearly provided otherwise. See 

Sorenson, 475 U.S. at 860. Neither the district court in this case, nor the Agencies in the 

regulations, have shown that Congress intended to give a different meaning to “addition” of fill 

materials than “addition” of dredged materials. Therefore, the term “addition” should include 

redeposit in both instances because the Agencies have defined “addition” of dredged materials to 

include redeposit, but they have been silent on the definition of “addition” of fill material. 

Therefore, based on the decision in Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc., the transferability of the 

basic reasoning for why “addition” of dredged materials includes redeposit into the fill material 

context, and the presumption that the same term used in different places in the statute has the 

same meaning the district court erred in finding that addition of fill material does not include 

redeposit. 
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CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the New Union Department of Environmental Protection 

respectfully asks this court to affirm in part and reverse in part the district court’s June 1, 2012 

Order. NUWF has organizational standing to sue Bowman for his violations of the CWA based 

on the injuries to its individual members. However, the district court lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction to hear NUWF’s complaint because Bowman’s violations of the Act are wholly past. 

The district court further lacked subject matter jurisdiction because at the time NUWF filed its 

complaint, NUDEP had already commenced, and was diligently prosecuting, an enforcement 

action against Bowman. Finally, Bowman violated the CWA by clearing wetlands and 

redepositing the excavated material on the land. The court should grant Bowman’s motion for 

summary judgment against NUWF. 

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________________ 

Counsel for New Union Department of Environmental Protection 

 


